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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICTOF MICHIGAN
SOUTHERN DIVISION

ROBERT LEE,

Plaintiff,
CivilCaseNo. 15-14255
V. HonorabléindaV. Parker

JOHN MILLER, TROY CUNNINGHAM,
TROY STEWART, MICHAEL SHORT, and
ART KLEINERT,

Defendant.
/

OPINION AND ORDER G RANTING DEFENDANTS’
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

This is a civil rights action arisinfigom Plaintiff Robert Lee’s unsuccessful
candidacy for Bay County Sheriff in 20 and 2016. In his First Amended
Complaint, Plaintiff alleges that Dafdants conspired to infringe his First
Amendment rights in violation of 42 U.G. § 1985(3) and deprived him of his
rights to equal protection in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1883resently before the

Court is Defendants’ motion for summandpgment, filed pursuant to Federal Rule

! Plaintiff also alleged a violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1986 in his First Amended
Complaint. That count, however, appligpecifically to two defendants, Kurt
Asbury and Jeffrey Stroud, who were dissed by stipulation on August 30, 2016.
(SeeECF No. 27.)
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of Civil Procedure 56 on June 14, 2G1TECF No. 39.) The motion has been
fully briefed. (ECF Nos. 47, 52 [rinding the facts and legal arguments
sufficiently presented in the partiedirigs, the Court is dispensing with oral
argument pursuant to Eastern District othlgan Local Rule 7. For the reasons
that follow, the Court is granting Defendants’ motion.

l. Factual Background

In 2012, shortly after retiring fromis position as a deputy with the Bay
County Sheriff's Department, Plaintdéinnounced his candidacy for Bay County
Sheriff. Plaintiff ran against loagme incumbent Defendant John Miller
(“Miller”). Defendant Troy Cunninghar(fCunningham”) was the Undersheriff
for Bay County and a supporter of MilleDefendant Michael Shore (“Shore”), a
road patrol sergeant with the sheriffispartment, and Dafdant Art Kleinert
(“Kleinert”) a sheriff's departmet deputy, also supported Miller.

As Bay County Sheriff, Miller oversaw the county’s jail and appointed its
administrator, Defendant Troy StewarStewart”). Stewart also supported
Miller's candidacy.

Plaintiff alleges that Miller gaviavorable treatment to Bay County

employees who supported his candidang “crack[ed] down” on employees who

2 Also pending is Defendants’ motion fomsgions against Plaintiff pursuant to
Federal Rule of Civil Prockire 11. (ECF No. 53.) EhCourt will address that
motion in a separate decision.



supported Plaintiff. For example, Plaihclaims Miller failed to discipline Bay
County Sheriff's Department correctiooBiicer Lori Redman when she physically
assaulted another officerdmuse she was a supporteiMifier's campaign and her
husband was Miller's campaign manag@iccording to Plaintiff, Miller

terminated Bay County Sheriff's Deparent deputy Jason Holsapple because
Holsapple vocally supported Plaintiff's candidacy.

Plaintiff lost to Miller in the 2012 election by less than 300 votes. On
February 14, 2014, Plaintiff officially declared his candidacy for sheriff in the
2016 election.

Shortly thereafter, on April 8, 2014 dntiff attended aneeting of the Bay
County Commissioners. At the meeting, Ridd publicly criticized Miller for his
absenteeism as sheriff. Plaintiff als@ade public statements about Shore and
Stewart. Specifically, Plaintiff assertdtht Shore acted negligently in responding
to a 911 call reporting the death of@derly woman under non-suspicious
circumstances at a home in the courfihore refused to send a sheriff's car to
retrieve the body, resulting in the deceaséamily having to wait for a Michigan
State trooper to respond. Plaintiff alleged that Stewart committed a felony by
smuggling a “controlled substance” into the jail for an inmate. The substance was
a prescription-strength mouthwash calledid®x to treat the inmate’s serious

dental condition.



Stewart and Shore separately sBéaintiff for defamation based on the
statements Plaintiff made about thenthet commissioners’ meeting. Plaintiff
claims the lawsuits were frivolis. According to Plaintiff, Shore told Neil Papin, a
janitor in the sheriff’'s department, the purpose of the lawsuits was to make
Plaintiff spend his money on litigation, ke would have insufficient funds for his
campaign for sheriff during the 2016 electiqi®l.’s Resp. Br. at 14, ECF No. 47
at Pg ID 1612.) Plaintiff cites Papindeposition transcript in support of this
assertion; however, no transcrits been filed in this cadePlaintiff did file an
affidavit from Papin on August 9, 2017. (EGI6. 50.) Nowhere in his affidavit,
however, does Papin mention the lawsaitsnake a statement supporting this
factual assertion.See id)

In December 2015, the state court ruleak Plaintiff's statements regarding
Stewart were defamatory. €ix.” Mot. Ex. 7 at 1, ECF No. 41-7 at Pg ID 1372.)
Similarly, the court concluded thataitiff’'s statements regarding Shore
“assert[ed] facts that can be proven falsdd. Ex. 8 at 3, ECF No. 41-8 at Pg ID
1392.) The judge dismissed Stewart’'s &mbre’s lawsuits, however, concluding
that they were public officials and thoseded to meet a ightened evidentiary

standard to prove their claims—that is, tli@eded to prove that Plaintiff made the

® Plaintiff cites the transcript as Exhibit &7 his brief, but behind tab 27 is a page
indicating that the transcript is “pending.S€eECF No. 48-27 at Pg ID 1925.)
Plaintiff has not supplementedetinecord with the transcript.
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statements with actual maliced.( Ex. 7 at 1, ECF No. 41-7 at Pg ID 1372; Ex. 8
at 4, ECF No. 41-8 at Pg ID 1395.) dbourt found insufficient evidence to
support a finding of malice.ld. Ex. 7 at 5-6, ECF Ne@l1-7 at Pg ID 1376-77; EX.
8 at 7, ECF No. 41-8 at Pg ID 1396.)

Stewart appealed the trial court’s daon. On June 8, 2017, the Michigan
Court of Appeals reversedld(, Ex. 4, ECF No. 41-%.The appellate court
concluded that “the evidence ... would béfisient for a rational trier of fact to
find by clear and convincing evidence tdafendant’s [Lee’s] statements were
made with reckless disregard for their truthld. @t 2, Pg ID 1268.)

Plaintiff filed motions in the stateial courts seeking sanctions against
Stewart and Shore pursuant to Michigaompiled Laws Sdmn 600.2591. Id.

Ex. 7, ECF No. 41-7 at Pg ID 1383; B.ECF No. 41-8 at Pg ID 1397.) Section
600.2591requiresthe court to award costs and feesurred by a party to an action
where the action was frivolous. Mich. @p. Laws § 600.2591. The state trial
judge denied Plaintiff's motions. (Defddot., Ex. 7, ECF No. 41-7 at Pg ID
1383; Ex. 8, ECF No. 41-8 at Pg ID 1397.)

Miller did not run for re-election i2016, and announced his retirement as
Bay County Sheriff effective at the end2616. Plaintiff ran in the Democratic
primary against Cunningham and Terrye8pe. In response to Defendants’

motion, Plaintiff alleges that MilleKCunningham, Shore and others “actively



intimidated general citizens in the commniyrthat supported [Plaintiff]..” (Pl.’s
Resp. Br. at 15, ECF No. 47 at Pg ID 261 Plaintiff deposed four Bay County
residents who, according to Plaintiff, testified that Shore and other sheriff
department deputies intimidated them amahoved their election materials (e.g.,
yard signs and vehicle bumper stickesgpporting Plaintiff for sheriff during the
2016 election. $ee, id Ex. 8, ECF No. 48-8, citing Exs. 55, 57-59.)

During his deposition in this matter, ookthese withesses, Thomas Jane,
could not identify the individuals who carteehis home and asked him to remove
Plaintiff's campaign signs from his frolawn. (Defs.’ Mot., Ex. 12 at 9-10, ECF
No. 37-13 at Pg ID 878-79.) Jane conlit even say that ¢hmen were sheriff's
department employees, only that they represented someone running against
Plaintiff. (Id. at 7, Pg ID 876.) While Jane sighan affidavit stating that one of
the men was Shore, he testf at his deposition that he could not say that one of
them was Shore and he was unablelémtify Shore who was present at the
deposition. Id. at 10, Pg ID 879.) Jane testified, however, that he still voted for
Plaintiff. (Id. at 19, Pg ID 888.)

Another witness, Stephen Beson, diad a yard-sign supporting Plaintiff in
his front yard. (Defs.” Mot. Ex. 11 @ ECF No. 37-12 at Pg ID 831.) Beson
testified that Shore and another officemeato his home and identified themselves

as sheriffs working on Cunningham’s campaigial. &t 9, ECF No. 833.) Beson



further testified that they told him it ‘suld be in [his] best behalf” to remove
Plaintiff's sign and replace it with a Cunningham sigtal.)( Shore told Beson that
it was against Beson'’s “better decision” tmremove Plaintiff's sign because
Plaintiff “had cost lots and lots of mon&ythe county and shouldn’t be the sheriff,
and that if he became the sheriff that[Shore] wouldn’t be able to go up the
ladder.” (d. at 9, 26, Pg ID 833, 859.)

Beson testified that he reported theident the following day to Michigan
State Police Officer Bill Arndt. Id. at 8, ECF No. Pg ID 832.) Arndt told Beson
that he was going to talk unningham that day.Id, at 15, Pg ID 839.) Later
that day, Beson received a call fromr@ingham who apologized for what Shore
said and indicated it wodilnever happen againld(at 15, 26, Pg ID 839, 850).
Beson still voted for Plaintiff. 1d. at 30, Pg ID 854.)

A third witness, James Murphy, testd that Shore and another sheriff’s
deputy came by his house sometimeunel2015, and Murphy saw Shore remove
a sign supporting Plaintiff’'s campaign froneteouth corner of Murphy’s property.
(Defs.” Mot., Ex. 10 at 7-8, ECF N87-11 at Pg ID 787-78.) Shore or the
unidentified deputy also removed twampaign bumper skers from Murphy’s
trucks. (d. at 13, Pg ID 793 Murphy spoke with Shore and the other deputy, but
Murphy did not ask why they removed the campaign materiadsat(9, Pg ID

789.) In fact, Murphy indicated that b&ld them to go ahead and take the



materials. Id. at 32, Pg ID 812 Murphy testified that he did not really care that
they took the sign or bumper stickersdae did not care whether Plaintiff was
elected sheriff. I(l. at 28, 31, Pg ID 807, 811He only displayed the campaign
materials because Papin asked him td. gt 28, Pg ID 808.)

At the deposition, Murphy was not aliteidentify Shore, who was present.
(Id. at 22, Pg ID 802.) Murphy testifiedahhe had never se&@more before. 1d.)
Murphy signed an affidavit stating that &ed his son “were coerced into voting
for someone who we didn’t want to vote for3gePl.’s Resp., Ex. 58 at 3, ECF
No. 48-58 at Pg ID 2310.) Murphy testifidthwever, that he did not vote in the
election for sheriff. (Defs.” Mot., EXLO at 22, ECF No. 37-11 at Pg ID 802.)
When asked why not, Murphy ansked: “I don’t vote.” [d.)

Murphy’s son Steve also was deposed during this litigation. (Pl.’s Resp.,
Ex. 60, ECF No. 48-60.) Steve signed the same affidavit as his dad about the
incident with the removaidf the campaign materials€ePl.’s Resp., Ex. 58, ECF
No. 48-58); however, Steve’s testimomflects that he has no first-hand
knowledge regarding many ofdliacts asserted in thffidavit. Steve saw the
yard sign and bumper stickdr Plaintiff being remove, but assumed his father
had talked to the men who did ild(at 8, Pg ID 2341.) Bve testified that he

spoke to the men, but only generally abingt campaign, such aghen the election



was and who the candidates were, and ttet thid him to register to vote because
he was not registeredid(at 9, Pg ID 2342.)

Plaintiff alleges in his First Amended Complaint that Kleinert and
Cunningham also engaged in “illegal trgmhls”, which involved taking trash bags
from Plaintiff’'s property to the sheriff’department and searching through them
for adverse information to use against Rt in the election. (Pl.’s First Am.
Compl. 19 71-77, ECF No. 3Rg ID 37.) Plaintiff also alleges that Kleinert, at
Cunningham’s direction, removed trash from Plaintiff’'s property on two occasions
within the last two years.ld. § 73.) Plaintiff relies oRapin’s affidavit to show
that this occurred. SeePl.’s Resp., Ex. 12, ECFR No. 48-12.)

Papin states in his affidavit that saw Kleinert going through someone’s
trash in a room inside the sheriff'sggtment sometime prior to August 12, 2013,
and then again about a month after tha¢ d4ECF No. 50 at Pg ID 2376-77.) On
the second occasion, Kleinert told Pagifhe boss tells me what to do and | do
it.” (Id. at Pg ID 2377.) Papin does not indicatéis affidavit that Kleinert said
the trash came from Plaintiff's house oatlanything indicated that it didld()
Plaintiff only speculates that the trash vises and he apparently told Papin that
someone had been messing with thash around the same timéd. Y

Plaintiff lost the 2016 primarynal Cunningham ran against the Republican

candidate Jason Holsappl Cunningham won.



[I.  Summary Judgment Standard

Summary judgment pursuant to FeaddRule of Civil Procedure 56 is
appropriate “if the movant shows that thex@o genuine dispute as to any material
fact and the movant is entitled to judgmasata matter of law.'Fed. R. Civ. P.

56(a). The central inquiry is “wheghthe evidence presents a sufficient
disagreement to require submission to a pryhether it is so one-sided that one
party must prevail as a matter of lawAhderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&77 U.S.
242, 251-52 (1986). After adequate tifoediscovery and upon motion, Rule 56
mandates summary judgment against a pany fails to establish the existence of
an element essential to that party’secaad on which that party bears the burden
of proof at trial. Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 322 (1986).

The movant has the initial burdensifowing “the absence of a genuine
issue of material fact.’ld. at 323. Once the mowameets this burden, the
“nonmoving party must come forward wislpecific facts showing that there is a
genuine issue for trial.Matsushita Electric Indus. Ce. Zenith Radio Corp475
U.S. 574, 587 (1986) (internal quotatiorarks and citation omitted). To
demonstrate a genuine issue, the nonmoving party must present sufficient evidence
upon which a jury could reasonably find foatlparty; a “scintilla of evidence” is

insufficient. See Liberty Lobhyl77 U.S. at 252. The courtust accept as true the
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non-movant’s evidence and draw “all jugthle inferences” in the non-movant’s
favor.See Liberty Lobhy77 U.S. at 255.

“A party asserting that a fact canri® or is genuinely disputed” must
designate specifically the materialstive record supporting the assertion,
“including depositions, documes) electronically stored information, affidavits or
declarations, stipulations, admissions, irdgatory answers, or other materials.”
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1). Notably, thial court is not required to construct a
party’s argument from the record or sgaput facts from the record supporting
those argumentsSee, e.qg., Street v. J.C. Bradford & (86 F.2d 1472, 1479-80
(6th Cir.1989) (“the trial court no longer has a duty to search the entire record to
establish that it is bereft of a genaiissue of material fact”) (citinfgrito-Lay, Inc.
v. Willoughby 863 F.2d 1029, 1034 (D.C. Cir. 1988¢ge also InterRoyal Corp. v.
Sponseller889 F.2d 108, 111 (6th Cir. 1988grt. deniedd94 U.S. 1091 (1990)
(“A district court is not required to spulate on which portioof the record the
nonmoving party relies, nor is it obligatelwade through ahsearch the entire
record for some specific facts thatght support the nonmoving party’s claim.”).
The parties are required to designate wfilkcificity the portions of the record
such that the court can “readily iddéy the facts upon which the . . . party

relies[.]” InterRoyal Corp.889 F.2d at 111.
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[ll.  Applicable Law and Analysis

Section § 1985(3) prohibits a conspiracy “for the purpose of depriving either
directly or indirectly, any person or class of persons of the equal protection of the
laws or of equal privileges and imnities under the laws42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).
To prevail on a § 1985(3) claim, the plaintiff must show:

“(1) a conspiracy; (2) for the purpose of depriving, either directly or

indirectly, any person or class of persons of the equal protection of the

laws, or of equal privileges or immunities of the laws; (3) an act in

furtherance of the conspiracy; (4) areby a person is either injured in

his person or property or deprivedanfy right or privilege of a citizen

of the United States.”
Vakilian v. Shaw335 F.3d 509, 518 (6th Cir. 2003) (quotidgited Bhd. of
Carpenters & Joiners v. Scpt63 U.S. 825, 828-29 (1983)). The plaintiff must
plead with some degree of specificihe facts supporting the existence of a
conspiracy.Jaco v. Bloechle739 F.2d 239, 245 (6th Cir. 1984) (affirming
dismissal of § 1985(3) claim where “corapit merely allege broad conclusory
negligence language void of the fadtakkegations necessary to support a
conspiracy theory”).

In his First Amended Complaint, Plaintiff alleges tBafendants engaged
In a conspiracy to infringe the Firkmendment rights of people “who were
political supporters of Plaintititndemployed by the sheriff's department.” (Pl.’s

First. Am. Compl. 1 27, 43, ECF Noa8Pg ID 29, 31, emphasis added.)

Defendants seek summary judgment, argtivag Plaintiff lacks evidence of a
12



conspiracy and the violation of his ctihgional rights. More fundamentally,
however, Plaintiff's § 1985(3) claim faiteecause the class he identifies does not
support liability under the statute.

The Supreme Court has stated tifigie language [ir8 1985(3)] requiring
intent to deprive of equal protection, @gual privilegesrad immunities, means
there must be some rator perhaps otherwise class-based, invidiously
discriminatory animus behind the conspirators’ actio@siffin v. Breckenridge
403 U.S. 88, 102 (1971). Citing the Sixth Circuit’'s decisio@@ameron v. Brock
483 F.3d 608, 610 (1973), Plaintiff statedia complaint and argues in response
to Defendants’ motion that “[p]ersons whee supporter[s] of a particular political
candidate are a clearly dedid class protected from invidious discrimination under
§ 1985(3) as a matter of law.” (Pl.’s Ritsm. Compl. 1 39, ECF No. 3 at Pg ID
31;see alsdPl.’s Resp. Br. at 23, 30, EONo. 47 at Pg ID 1621, 1628.)
Intervening Supreme Court and Sixlrcuit precedent calls the result@ameron
into considerable doubt, however.

In United Brothers of Carpenters and Joiners v. Set8 U.S. 825 (1983),
the Supreme Court considered whethelaam under 8§ 1985(3) could lie when the
underlying charge was discrimination the basis of union membership. at
830. The Fifth Circuit had held thatl®85(3) reaches conspiracies motivated by

economic bias, reasoning that the seaatuas aimed in padt Republicans who
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were among the objects of the Ku Kluxalkls Reconstruction-era conspiratorial
activities and that if the statute reacladmus against political association it
reached the sufficiently similar emus against an economic groulgl. at 835-36
(citing Scott v. Moore680 F.2d 979 (5th Cir. 198%n banc)). The Supreme
Court reversedld.

In doing so, the Court explained tHfithe predomina¢ purpose § 1985(3)”
was to address racial animusl. at 836. The Court indicad that “it is a close
guestion whether § 1985(3) was intendedetach any class-based animus other
than animus against Negroes and those who championed their cause, most notably
Republicans.”ld. at 836.The Court in fact has newvéund that a criterion other
than race can serve as the bdsr a qualifying class under § 1985(3).

Examining the legislative history “marshalled in support of the position that
Congress meant to forbid wholhon-racial, but politically motivated
conspiracies,” th&cottCourt in dicta found “difficult the question whether
8 1985(3) provided a remedy for every certed effort by one political group to
nullify the influence of or do other injutyp a competing group by use of otherwise
unlawful means.”ld. The Court reasoned:

To accede to that view would go far toward making the federal

courts, by virtue of 8§ 1985(3), tmonitors of campaign tactics in

both state and federal elections, a role that the courts should not be

quick to assume. If respondenssibmission were accepted, the

proscription of 8§ 1985(3) wouldrguably reach the claim that a
political party has interfered with the freedom of speech of another

14



political party by encouraging thetkling of its rival’s speakers and
the disruption of the rival’'s meetings.

Id. While the Court’s statements regaglamimus toward political activities or
beliefs was dicta, it made clear ti3a1985(3) does not “reach conspiracies
motivated by economic @ommercial animus.’1d. at 838.

A few years afteBcott in Conklin v. Lovely834 F.2d 543 (1987), the Sixth
Circuit again was faced with the issuewdgfether § 1985(3) reaches conspiracies
motivated by political views. Finding that tBeottCourt only answered whether
8 1985(3) reaches conspiracies motivated by economic bias, the Sixth Circuit held
that it was constrained by prior precedent—that b&ageror—to conclude that
the statute reaches congyuies aimed at a class on account of political views or
activities. Conklin 834 F.2d at 549. The court recognized, however, that other
Circuits had reachedantrary decision sincgcott Id. (citing Grimes v. Smith
776 F.2d 1359 (7th Cir. 1983rown v. Reardon/70 F.2d 896 (10th Cir. 1985);
Harrison v. KVAT Food Mgmt766 F.2d 155 (4th Cir. 1985)).

In fact, the Sixth Circuit stands alone in holding aBeottthat animus
based on political affiliation with a particular candidate or political beliefs or
activities is entitled to protection under 8 185 The First, Second, and Third
Circuits have joined those Circuits ctuting that discrimination against a class
based on political affiliation or beliefs is n& invidious that § 1985(3) applies.

Perez-Sanchez vuBlic Bldg. Auth.531 F.3d 104, 108-09 (1st Cir. 200Barber
15



v. City of Patterso440 F.3d 131, 142 (3d Cir. 200&}leason v. McBrideB69

F.2d 688, 695 (2d Cir. 1989)ddlining to decide aftescottwhether membership

in a political party is a protected class under § 1985, but holding that the statute
does not reach animus based on politozgbhilosophical opposition to the
defendants)see also Schultz v. Sundber§9 F.2d 714, 718 (9th Cir. 1985)
(upholding dismissal of § 1985(3) claimought by state representatives, finding
support inScotts indication“that section 1985(3) probably did not extend to
wholly political, non-racial conspiracies®) Moreover, since the Sixth Circuit’s
decision inConklin the Supreme Court had the opportunity to again address the
scope of the class protected under the statuBean v. Alexandria Women'’s

Health Clinig 506 U.S. 263, 269 (1993). TBeay Court concluded that § 1985(3)
does not extend to a class identifiable dnhits members’ activities or desire to

engage in certain condudd. at 269 (holding that “women seeking abortions”

*The Ninth Circuit relied on the Bowing to reach its decision:

Generally, our rule is that sem 1985(3) is etended beyond race

only when the class in question cslmow that there has been a
governmental determination thtg members require and warrant

special federal assistance in gaing their civil rights. More

specifically, we require either that the courts have designated the class
In question a suspect or quasi-sedclassification requiring more
exacting scrutiny or that Congrdsas indicated through legislation

that the class required special protection.

Sever v. Alaska Pulp Cor@78 F.2d 1529, 1536-37 (9th Cir.1992).
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were not a protected class because ténen unquestionably connotes something
more than a group of individuals who shardesire to engage in conduct that the
§ 1985(3) defendamtisfavors”).

Subsequertb Bray, the Sixth Circuit has held that to be protected by
§ 1985(3), a class “must possess theadtaristics of a discrete and insular
minority, such as race, national origin, or gendétaverstick Enter., Inc. v. Fin.
Fed. Credit, Ing.32 F.3d 989, 994 (1994) (citidjcks v. Resolution Trust Cotp.
970 F.2d 378, 382 (7th Cir. 1992)). The court reiteratsddhguage more
recently inVakilian v. Shaw335 F.3d 509, 519 (6th Cir. 2003) (quoting
Haverstick 32 F.3d at 994), and/arner v. Greenbaum, Doll & McDonald04 F.
App’x 493, 498 (6th Cir. 2004unpublished) (same). Makilian, the Sixth
Circuit held that the defendants wera entitled to qualified immunity with
respect to a § 1985(3) claim brought byl@mian-born physician. 335 F.3d at
521. In comparison, the court heldWarnerthat environmentalists opposing a
mining company’s application for zoning cltge were not protected by the statute.
104 F. App’x at 498-99.

This Court does not believe that thasd identified by Plaintiff falls within
the types of classes—that is, “discratal insular minorit[ie$}—the Sixth Circuit
has found protected by § 1985(3) subsequeBtag. On this basis, the Court

would grant summary judgment to Defamds on Plaintiff's § 1985(3) claim.
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Defendants also are entitled to summaidgment, however, because Plaintiff fails
to present evidence to show the deprivabéd his federal constitutional rights or a
conspiracy to interfere with those rights.

In his First Amended Complaint, Plaff lists several actions he claims
Defendants took in furtherance of the gd conspiracy: (1) express statements by
Miller and others about loyalty to and political support for Miller, (2) illegal “trash
pulls”, (3) violation of Michigan’s Camgign Finance Act, (4) disparate treatment
based on whether individuals supported Miller, and (5) “SLARR{suits against
Plaintiff. (Pl.’s First Am. Compl. 1 5ECF No. 3 at Pg ID 34.) In response to
Defendants’ motion, Plaintiffs adds tf@lowing: (a) “[a]ctive intimidation of
citizens displaying ‘Lee for Sheriff’ yd signs”, (b) “Cunningham’s criminal
complaint about [Matthew] Gillis anéFred] Walraven posting Cunningham’s
‘like’ of patently racist Facebook menadout Office Wilson oferguson”, and (c)
“Defendants’ active intimidation of Leend Papin during this civil case.” (Pl.’s
Resp. Br. at 33-34, ECF Nd47 at Pg ID 1631-32.)

Plaintiff lacks standing to bring a claim based on actions against other

individuals absent evidence of a causairection between the action and a direct

> Plaintiff provides in his First AmendeComplaint that “SLAPP” stands for
“strategic lawsuit against public partictmmn” and “is a lawsuit that is intended to
censor, intimidate, and silence critics bydmming them with the cost of a legal
defense until they abandon their criticismopposition.” (Pl.’s First Am. Compl.
at9n.9, ECF No. 3atPgID 34.)

18



or indirect injury tohim® See Lujan v. Defenders of WildJifs04 U.S. 555, 560-
61, n.1 (1992) (explaining “that theeducible constitutional minimum of
standing” requires that the plaintiff suféel an injury that is “concrete and
particularized,” and “[b]y pdicularized, [the Court] man[s] that the injury must
affect the plaintiff in a personal and indlual way.”). Plaintiff does not dispute
this point in response to Defeamats’ summary judgment motionS€ePl.’s Resp.
Br. at 41, ECF No. 47 at Pg ID 164%)e contends, however, that he was
indirectly injured by Defendants’ actiondd.) Yet Plaintiff fails to present
evidence to demonstrate any alleged echiinjury. Most significantly, he does
not demonstrate that any person fatledote for him because of Defendants’
actions.

Similarly, Plaintiff offers no spefic facts to support his claim that
Defendants’ alleged violatns of Michigan’s campaigfinance laws violated his
federal constitutional rights. In other werdPlaintiff fails to establish a causal
connection between Defdants’ alleged violations aftate law and a direct or

indirect injury to his fderal constitubnal rights.

® Additionally, Plaintiff's reliance on Defendés’ alleged intimidation of citizens
displaying his campaign signs is misplacasithe class he filees as being the
subject of Defendants’ conspiracy inclsdenly supporters of his candidacy who
alsoworked for the sheriff's department.ohke of the individuals he identifies as
being “intimidated” becage of campaign signs fall within this class.

19



With respect to the trash pulls, Pliiinpresents no evidence to show that
Defendants in fact removed trash from his home. Plaintiff relies on a statement by
Papin to demonstrate that Kleinert remdVaintiff's trash bags at Cunningham’s
direction, but that statement can be found nowhere in the record evidence. In any
event, even if there wasqof that these defendants tdBlaintiff's trash, there was
nothing unlawful about their conduct and evidence suggesting that the purpose
of the conduct was to deprive Plaintiff of his constitutional rigistse California
v. Greenwoogd486 U.S. 35, 37 (1988) (holding that the Fourth Amendment does
not prohibit the warrantless search or seizure of garbage left for collection outside
the curtilage of a home).

Plaintiff indicates in a footnote to his response brief that the removed trash
bags were in a location s@ to be excepted from the Supreme Court’s holding in
California v. Greenwood Specifically, Plaintiff states without citation to the
record that the bags werearchained and locked dumpste&SeéPl.’s Resp. Br. at
37 n.41, ECF No. 47 at Pg ID 1635.) Thedewce in the record is contrary to
Plaintiff's assertion. Specifically, dugrhis deposition in this matter, Plaintiff
testified that the removed trash washegt curb. (Defs.” Mot., Ex. 2 at 191, ECF
No. 41-2 at Pg ID 1188.)

Plaintiff cannot establish that Stewartr Shore’s lawsuits against him were

frivolous and intended to interfere witiis First Amendment rights. The state
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courts have conclusively held that Pl#f’'s statements concerning Stewart and
Shore were false. The coaiso concluded that the lawsuits were not frivolous.
Contrary to Plaintiff's assertion, thiSourt believes those findings do have a
preclusive effect in this litigation. Img event, Plaintiff poffers no evidence to
show that Stewart or Shore filed thevauits to deprive Plaintiff of equal
protection.

Finally, Plaintiff claims that Defendants actively intimidated him during this
lawsuit. In support of this assertionaitiff refers to threats Stewart allegedly
made while they were in a restroom during a deposition in this case. (Pl.’'s Resp.
Br., Ex. 10, ECF No. 48-10.) Plaintiffeted on the record at the deposition that
Stewart came into the restroom afteaiRliff and “made an accusation that |
apparently took a photo of him and his wéfied his granddaugitand in a county
car or whatever, and he said now youmreolved my wife and my granddaughter
in this and don’t think that it's going to gmchecked.” (Pl.’s Resp., Ex. 63 at 4-5,
EFC No. 48-63 at Pg ID 2357-58.) Tlsimtement, however, has nothing to do
with the conspiracy Plaintiff alleges in this action.

For all of these reasons, the Cowncludes that Defendés are entitled to
summary judgment with respect to Pldiidi 8 1985(3) claim. Many of the same
reasons support summary judgment in favabefendants on Plaintiff's claim that

they violated his rights under § 1983.
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To state a claim under 8§ 1983, a plidiri‘must establish that a person
acting under color of state law deprivieidh of a right secured by the Constitution
or laws of the United States.’Radvansky395 F.3d at 302 (quoting/aters v. City
of Morristown 242 F.3d 353, 358-59 (6th Cir. 2001)). In his First Amended
Complaint, Plaintiff alleges that the trash pulls violated his right to equal protection
of the law or, alternatively, his Fourth AAmdment rights. (Pl.’s First Am. Compl.
1 339, n.144, ECF No. 3 at Pg ID 78.) réisponse to Defendants’ motion, Plaintiff
adds Defendants’ violation of MichiganGampaign Finance Act as a basis for his
§ 1983 claim. (Pl.’s Resp. Br. 36, ECF No. 47 at Pg ID 1634.)

Plaintiff’'s claim concerning the remowval his trash falls within the Fourth
rather than the Foteenth AmendmentSee Albright v. Oliver510 U.S. 807, 813
(1994) (quotingGraham v. Connqgr490 U.S. 386, 395 (1989) (“Where a particular
Amendment ‘provides arxplicit textual source of constitutional protection’
against a particular sort of governmeehavior, ‘that Amendment, not the more
generalized notion of ‘substve due process,” must be the guide for analyzing
these claims.”). For the reasons alreasthifed, the alleged trash pulls were not
violative of the Fourth Amendment.

Plaintiff's assertion that Defendants violated state finance laws cannot

support a claim under § 1988ee Stanley v. Vining02 F.3d 767, 769 (6th Cir.
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2010) (“It has long been established ttieg violation of a state statute or
regulation is insufficient alone toake a claim cognizable under § 1983.").

In short, Plaintiff fails to establish that any defendant violated his federal
rights to support a § 1983 claim.
IV. Conclusion

For the reasons stated, the Court htthds Plaintiff presents insufficient
evidence to survive summary judgment wigspect to his claims under § 1985(3)
or § 1983.

Accordingly,

IT IS ORDERED that Defendants’ motion for summary judgment (ECF
No. 39) isGRANTED.

gLindaV. Parker

LINDA V. PARKER
US. DISTRICT JUDGE

Dated: December 28, 2017

| hereby certify that a copy of the fg@ng document was mailed to counsel of
record and/or pro se parties on thiseg®ecember 28, 2017, by electronic and/or
U.S. First Class mail.

3 R. Loury
Case Manager
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